IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S260130

THE PEOPLE,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

TREYVON LOVE OLLO,
Defendant and Appellant.

Court of Appeal of California
Second District, Division Two
No. B290948

Superior Court of California
Los Angeles County
No. KA115677

Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits

RACHEL LEDERMAN, SBN 130192
Rachel Lederman & Alexis C. Beach,
Attorneys
558 Capp Street
San Francisco, CA 94110
ph 415-282-9300
rachel@bllaw.info

Attorney for Appellant Treyvon Love Ollo

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When a drug user voluntarily ingests drugs provided by a defendant, and those drugs result in an overdose or other injury, is the defendant always subject to the sentence enhancement for personal infliction of great bodily injury (Pen. Code, § 12022.7), regardless of the specific facts?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Proceedings Below

On April 26, 2018, a jury convicted appellant of furnishing a controlled substance, Fentanyl, to a minor ([Health & Saf. Code, § 11353](#)); and found true an allegation of personal infliction of great bodily injury (GBI) ([Pen. Code, § 12022.7, subd. \(a\)](#)).

Appellant moved to dismiss the GBI enhancement, arguing that there was insufficient evidence to support the enhancement based on [People v. Slough \(2017\) 11 Cal.App.5th 419](#).

On May 21, 2018, the court denied appellant's motion. The court sentenced appellant to the upper term of nine years, plus three years for the enhancement, for a total of twelve years in prison.

Appellant appealed, arguing that the trial court violated appellant's constitutional rights by improperly precluding trial counsel from arguing in his summation that the prosecution had

not proven the personal infliction element of the GBI enhancement based on the victim's volitional act of taking the drugs.

On December 5, 2019, the Second District Court of Appeal, Division Two, affirmed the judgment. (*People v. Ollo* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 1152.) This Court granted review.

II. Statement of Facts

Appellant, age eighteen, texted his sixteen-year-old girlfriend, R., that he had some "coke", and she came over that night. Appellant gave her some white powder that he believed to be cocaine, but which was actually a lethal dose of the far more potent drug Fentanyl. R. cut the powder into lines and snorted a single line up her nose. Appellant did not partake. R. passed out within half an hour in appellant's bed, and appellant went to sleep in the same bed. R. died at some point during the night of Fentanyl overdose.

ARGUMENT

When A Drug User Voluntarily Ingests Drugs And Those Drugs Result In An Overdose Or Other Injury, The Question of Whether the Person Who Furnished The Drugs Is Subject To Sentence Enhancement For Personal Infliction Of Great Bodily Injury Is Fact Specific; The Trial Court's Preclusion of This Defense Violated Appellant's Right To Due Process.

A. Trial Court Proceedings

Appellant brought a motion to dismiss the GBI enhancement, which the trial court denied. ([Pen. Code, § 1118.1](#)) (3 RT 646–647.) Trial counsel argued that there was insufficient evidence to support the enhancement based on *People v. Slough, supra*, [11 Cal.App.5th 419](#). In that case, the appellate court found that the defendant's act of providing the fatal dose of drugs was not sufficient to support a GBI enhancement. But the trial court found that the instant case was more similar to *People v. Martinez* (2014) [226 Cal.App.4th 1169](#), in which the defendant and the victim were sleeping in the same bed when the victim died, after the defendant had given her drugs and alcohol. (3 RT 649–650.) The trial court precluded trial counsel from arguing in his summation to the jury, that the prosecution had not proven the personal infliction element of the GBI enhancement based on the victim's volitional act of taking the drugs, finding that such argument was precluded by *Martinez*. (3 RT 651–655.)

The trial court explained this as follows.

THE COURT: ...[T]he [*Martinez*] court ... said that's unavailing. Not available. Can't do it. That's the way

I interpret it. I think it's contrary to the law. Again I realize there is factual distinctions [sic] and you have your case and all of that, and unfortunately there's no case that's directly on point, but they said that even if a person voluntarily takes drugs, that does not preclude a defendant from being found guilty of personally inflicting great bodily injury.

TRIAL COUNSEL; Doesn't preclude, but I can still argue.

THE COURT: But you can't argue to the contrary of that. They're saying here, the fact that she voluntarily took the drugs doesn't mean he didn't personally inflict great bodily injury. So you can't turn that around and say she voluntarily took the drugs, therefore he can't be found guilty or in violation of great bodily injury. That's inconsistent.

So you know, you might be right, I might be wrong, but my best view is to stick with what I mentioned earlier. I think if your argument is going to be that she brought the drugs, then, yeah, she took them on her own, that's fair game. If your argument is going to be he gave her the drugs -- if you believe he gave her the drugs, he's not responsible because she voluntarily took them, I don't think that can be done because I think it's in contravention to this case [*Martinez*].

Trial counsel objected, based on appellant's Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights as well as the caselaw. (3 RT 654–655.)

B. Court of Appeal Opinion

The Court of Appeal held that “a defendant’s act of furnishing drugs and the user’s voluntary act of ingesting them constitute concurrent direct causes, such that the defendant who so furnishes personally inflicts great bodily injury upon his victim when she subsequently dies from an overdose.” (*People v. Ollo, supra*, 42 Cal.App.5th at p. 1158, Slip Opinion, pp. 6–7.)

The Court of Appeal disagreed with *Slough*, finding that the factual differences between *Slough* and *Martinez* were not significant to its analysis, because in its interpretation of the law, the user’s voluntary act of ingesting the drugs *never* precludes a finding of personal infliction by the drug provider.

...[A] concurrent direct cause of an injury remains such even if the act and injury are separated by time and space. By placing dispositive weight on the temporal and spatial distance between the defendant’s conduct of furnishing and the victim’s act of ingesting, *Slough* contravenes this principle of direct concurrent causation. *Slough* ...effectively treats the victim’s ingestion as an intervening or superseding cause (albeit an entirely foreseeable one). Because superseding cause is a concept relevant to proximate causation, it is irrelevant to the very different question of direct causation.

(*Ollo, supra*, at pp. 1158–1159, Slip Opinion, p. 8, citations omitted.)

Thus, the Court of Appeal upheld the trial court’s decision to not allow appellant’s counsel to argue that the prosecution had not proven the personal infliction element of the enhancement,

recognizing that its “disagreement with *Slough* means that, under our holding, drug dealers are liable for additional prison time *whenever* the persons to whom they furnish drugs are subjected to great bodily injury due to their drug use.” (*Id.* at p. 1159, Slip Opinion, p. 8, emphasis added.)

C. Standard of Review

A court’s ruling on matters of law is reviewed de novo. (*People v. Cromer* (2001) 24 Cal.4th 889, 894.) The trial court has discretion to control the duration and limit the scope of closing argument. (*Pen. Code*, § 1044; *Herring v. New York* (1975) 422 U.S. 853, 862.) But where, as here, a decision rests on an error of law, the court has abused its discretion. (*People v. Superior Court (Humberto S.)* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 737, 742; *In re Anthony M.* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 1010, 1016.)

D. The Personal Infliction Sentence Enhancement

Section 12022.7, subdivision (a), provides that “[a]ny person who *personally inflicts* [GBI] on any person other than an accomplice in the commission of a felony or attempted felony shall be punished by an additional and consecutive term of imprisonment in the state prison for three years.” (Italics added.)

The meaning of the statutory requirement that the defendant *personally inflict* the injury does not differ from its nonlegal meaning. Commonly understood, the phrase “personally inflicts”

means that someone “in person”, that is, directly and not through an intermediary, causes something damaging or painful to be endured. (*Martinez, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1184.)

In enacting [section 12022.7](#), the Legislature intended to impose an additional penalty for causing GBI only on those principals who perform the act that directly inflicts the injury. The defendant must directly cause an injury, not just proximately cause it. Accordingly, one who merely aids, abets, or directs another to inflict the physical injury is not subject to the enhanced penalty of [section 12022.7](#). (*Slough, supra*, 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 423, citing *People v. Cole* (1982) 31 Cal.3d 568 and *People v. Guzman* (2000) 77 Cal.App.4th 761.)

Although [section 12022.7, subdivision \(a\)](#), is broadly construed, “our Supreme Court has made clear that proximate cause does not equate with personal infliction and that “[t]he Legislature is aware of the difference.” (*Slough, supra*, 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 424, citations omitted, quoting *People v. Bland* (2002) 28 Cal.4th 313, 336.)

E. The *Slough* and *Martinez* Decisions

In *Slough*, the victim died of a drug overdose and the jury found the defendant, who had supplied heroin to the victim at the victim's request, personally inflicted GBI within the meaning of [section 12022.7](#). (*Slough, supra*, at p. 422.) The Court of Appeal reversed the GBI finding and, in doing so, it distinguished *Martinez, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th 1169.

Martinez gave his victim more than a dozen methadone and hydrocodone pills while the two drank alcohol together. In

concluding the evidence was sufficient to support the GBI enhancements, the *Martinez* court reasoned that “More than one person may be found to have directly participated in inflicting a single injury.” (*Martinez*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1185.) “Appellant may not have forced [the victim] to take a lethal quantity of drugs, but he supplied her with them knowing that the drugs were more dangerous when combined with alcohol. Appellant continued to supply drugs to [the victim] as he watched her continue to consume alcohol and become [more] intoxicated.... Appellant's act of personally providing [the victim] a lethal quantity of drugs while she was in an intoxicated state was the direct cause of [the victim's] death.” (*Id.* at p. 1186.)

The *Slough* court emphasized that “[i]n *Martinez*, the defendant repeatedly supplied drugs to the victim while observing her increasing intoxication; the furnishing was akin to administering. [*Slough*], by contrast, played no part in [his victim]'s ingestion of the drugs. He neither performed nor participated in the act that directly inflicted the injury, so the GBI enhancement cannot apply.” (*Slough*, 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 425.)

The *Slough* Court further explained that the contrasting “result in *Martinez* is also consistent with the requirement that the personal infliction of GBI occur ‘in the commission of a felony....’ (Pen. Code, § 12022.7, subd. (a).) In *Martinez*, defendant’s acts were ongoing when the injury was inflicted; in *Slough*, the drug dealer and user went their separate ways after exchanging money for drugs and the dealer was not present when the user ingested the overdose. Thus, the crime of furnishing the drug had concluded and was complete when the GBI occurred.

The *Slough* Court also pointed out that any concern that a seller or furnisher of illegal drugs cannot otherwise be punished for GBI or death proximately resulting from the use of the drugs is allayed by the potential to charge a homicide. (*Slough*, at p. 425, fn. 3.)

F. Providing Drugs To A Drug User Who Overdoses Should Not Automatically Be Considered Personal Infliction Of GBI, As Exemplified By The Tragic Case Here.

In the instant case, although appellant was with R. when she took the drug, she self-administered only a single small dose, and died at some point later. Appellant did not give her more and more as in *Martinez*. He did not know the true nature of the substance R. took and that a single snort would be fatal. The two were not drinking, nor was R. in an intoxicated state at the time she took the drug. The felony of giving a minor drugs had concluded and was complete at the time that R. died.

The Court of Appeal concluded that these specific facts were irrelevant because “a defendant’s act of furnishing drugs and the user’s voluntary act of ingesting them constitute concurrent direct causes, such that the defendant who so furnishes personally inflicts great bodily injury upon his victim when she subsequently dies from an overdose” -- *in every case*. (*Olo*, *supra*, at p. 1158, Opinion, pp. 6–7.)

The Court of Appeal based this in part on precedent it construed as holding that when the acts of more than one person combine to inflict great bodily injury, each of those persons has directly caused that injury and each has personally inflicted that

injury. (E.g., *People v. Modiri* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 481, 486 [multiple assailants engaged in a group attack.]) The Court also relied on cases holding that a defendant may be liable for personal infliction under [section 12022.7](#) even if the injury is inflicted accidentally (*People v. Guzman, supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th at p. 764), and even if the injury occurs some time after the defendant's act (*People v. Cross* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 58, 66, 68–69 [defendant's act of engaging in sexual intercourse may be a direct cause of subsequent conception and pregnancy]). (Opinion, p. 6.)

However, none of these cases applied the personal infliction enhancement in a blanket fashion to general fact patterns. *Modiri* held only that those who participate directly and substantially in a group beating should not be *immune* from a personal-infliction finding for the sole reason that the resulting confusion prevents a showing or determination of this kind. (*People v. Modiri, supra*, 39 Cal.4th at pp. 496–497.) This Court's *Modiri* analysis is specific to group beatings where it may be difficult to determine who struck the fatal blow. *Modiri* still requires that the physical force personally applied by the defendant must have been sufficient to produce great bodily injury either (1) by itself, or (2) in combination with other assailants, excluding persons who merely assist someone else in producing injury, and who do not personally and directly inflict it themselves. (*Id. at p. 494.*) Thus, the inquiry is fact-dependent.

The Court of Appeal Opinion also cites *People v. Guzman* for the proposition more than one person can personally inflict the same injury. In *Guzman*, the defendant, while intoxicated, made an unsafe left turn in front of another vehicle, which as a result crashed into Guzman's car, and a passenger in the other vehicle

was injured. The Court of Appeal upheld imposition of the personal infliction enhancement because *Guzman*'s volitional act was the direct cause of the collision and therefore the direct cause of the injury. More than one person may be found to have directly participated in inflicting a single injury. (*Guzman, supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th at p. 764.) However, the *Guzman* Court did not hold that the enhancement necessarily applies to *all* drivers who are at fault in car accidents involving injury. For example, in *People v. Valenzuela*, also cited in the Court of Appeal Opinion, the appellate court held that the defendant's admission that he drove recklessly and proximately caused GBI was insufficient to prove personal infliction without proof that the defendant "directly, personally, himself" inflicted the injury. (*People v. Valenzuela* (2010) 191 Cal.App.4th 316, 322.)

People v. Cross, cited in the Opinion, dealt with the question of what constitutes GBI, holding that in some cases, a jury can reasonably find pregnancy of a 13-year-old to constitute GBI. (*People v. Cross, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 66.) Again, the question is fact-specific: this Court did not hold in *Cross* that *every* act of unlawful sexual intercourse that results in pregnancy is always subject to the personal infliction enhancement.

The Court of Appeal in the instant case explained that its "conclusion is consistent with the purpose of [section 12022.7](#) to punish (and hence deter) those defendants who themselves directly cause the injury; indeed, "[a] contrary [conclusion] would mean that those who" personally furnish drugs that cause a fatal overdose "would often evade enhanced punishment." (*Ollo, supra*, at p. 1158, Slip Opinion p. 7.)

However, it is applying the enhancement to all drug providers *whenever* the drugs cause injury that would lead to an incongruous result. If this Court adopts the blanket rule proposed by the Court of Appeal, any unwitting drug buyer who shares what he thinks is a safe quantity of cocaine would always be punished more severely than the drug dealer who substituted the lethal dose of fentanyl for cocaine, or the manufacturer flooding the market with inexpensive fentanyl. The dealer or manufacturer would never subject to a personal infliction enhancement in this kind of case because they did not give the drug directly to the person who died.

The Court of Appeal also based its conclusion on [section 12022.7, subdivision \(g\)](#), which spells out specific crimes to which the personal infliction enhancement is inapplicable (murder, manslaughter, or arson). The Court reasoned that “Were we to conclude that a victim’s voluntary ingestion of a drug furnished by another breaks the causal chain as a matter of law, we would effectively be adding the crime of furnishing controlled substances to subdivision (g)’s list.” (*Ollo, supra*, at p. 1158. Slip Opinion, p. 7.) This reasoning is flawed because appellant does not contend that one who gives or sells drugs to another person who then overdoses *never* personally inflicts GBI. Rather, appellant contends that the answer to this question should depend on the facts.

For example, in *Martinez*, appellant supplied the victim with drugs knowing that the drugs were more dangerous when combined with alcohol, and continued to supply her with more drugs as he watched her continue to consume alcohol and become increasingly intoxicated. “Appellant’s act of personally providing

Ms. Groveman a lethal quantity of drugs while she was in an intoxicated state was the direct cause of Ms. Groveman's death.”(*Martinez*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1186.). As the *Slough* court observed, Martinez’ “furnishing was akin to administering.” (*Slough*, 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 425.) By contrast in *Slough*, the defendant handed off drugs to the user in exchange for money. After that, they each went their separate ways. “Slough played no part in [the user]’s ingestion of the drugs. He neither performed nor participated in the act that directly inflicted the injury, so the GBI enhancement cannot apply. (*Ibid.*)

The instant case is more similar to *Slough* than to *Martinez*. Appellant simply gave R. the drug. There was no evidence that he was drinking with her or repeatedly gave her more and more drugs while she became increasingly intoxicated, and thus lost volitional control and became more and more susceptible to overdose from the combination of drugs and alcohol. Moreover, as in *Slough*, appellant’s felony of providing her with drugs had concluded and was complete at the time that R. tragically died.

This Court should hold that when a drug user voluntarily ingests drugs provided by a defendant, and those drugs result in overdose or other injury, the question of whether the defendant is subject to sentence enhancement for personal infliction of GBI must be determined based on the specific facts.

This Court should also find that precluding appellant from arguing at trial that the evidence was insufficient to support personal infliction of GBI violated appellant’s constitutional right to due process, and reverse the enhancement finding. (See

Herring v. New York, supra, 422 U.S. at p. 865; *Conde v. Henry* (9th Cir. 1999) 198 F.3d 734; *United States v. Kellington* (9th Cir. 2000) 217 F.3d 1084, 1099–1100.)

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should hold that when a drug user who voluntarily ingests a drug suffers great bodily injury as a result of that drug, the question of whether the person who provided the drug is subject to the sentence enhancement for personal infliction of great bodily injury ([Pen. Code, § 12022.7](#)) should be determined based on the specific facts, reverse the enhancement finding and remand for resentencing.