### In the Supreme Court of the State of California

### THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S260130

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

### TREYVON LOVE OLLO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Case No. B290948 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. KA115677 Hon. Steven D. Blades, Judge

### ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

#### ARGUMENT

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PROHIBITED APPELLANT FROM ARGUING THAT VOLUNTARY INGESTION ALONE PRECLUDES A PERSONAL INFLICTION FINDING

Appellant argues that the act of providing drugs to a person who subsequently overdoses should not automatically result in a great bodily injury enhancement and that the question, instead, is to be determined on all the facts. (OBM 13-18.) Respondent agrees. Section 12022.7 requires that a defendant directly inflict great bodily injury upon the victim. The existence of direct causation is a question of fact for the jury and no single factor is necessarily determinative. In the instant case the trial court properly prohibited defense counsel from arguing to the jury that a victim's voluntary ingestion of drugs necessarily precludes a finding of direct causation because that argument is contrary to law.

## A. Section 12022.7 Requires Direct, Rather Than Proximate, Causation

Penal Code section 12022.7, subdivision (a), states, "Any person who personally inflicts great bodily injury on any person other than an accomplice in the commission of a felony or attempted felony shall be punished by an additional and consecutive term of imprisonment in the state prison for three years." Great bodily injury as used in this statute means "a significant or substantial physical injury." (§ 12022.7, subd. (f).) The enhancement does not apply to murder, manslaughter, and certain types of arson, or where the infliction of great bodily injury is an element of the offense. (§ 12022.7, subd. (g).)

"To 'personally inflict' an injury is to directly cause an injury, not just proximately cause it." (People v. Rodriguez (1999) 69 Cal.App.4th 341, 347.) The familiar standard of proximate causation requires that a criminal injury be "not so remote as to fail to constitute the natural and probable consequence of the defendant's act." (People v. Roberts (1992) 2 Cal.4th 271, 319.) "A natural and probable consequence is one that a reasonable person would know is likely to happen if nothing unusual intervenes." (CALCRIM 240; see also People v. Schmies (1996) 44 Cal.App.4th 38, 48 [proximate cause exists where defendant's act or omission sets in motion a chain of events the natural and probable consequence of which is the injury].) The intervention of some other force that is itself a normal, foreseeable result of the defendant's act or omission does not break causation under the proximate cause standard. (Schmies, supra, 44 Cal.App.4th at p. 49.) But where independent or concurrent causes are

present, the defendant's act or omission must have been a "substantial factor" in causing the injury in order to support criminal liability, meaning it must have been more than negligible or theoretical. (CALCRIM No. 240; *People v. Holmberg* (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1310, 1321.)

The causation requirement of the great bodily injury enhancement under section 12022.7, however, is more demanding. The Legislature's use of the word "personally" limits the imposition of the enhancement "to those who directly perform the act that causes the physical injury to the victim." (People v. Cole (1982) 31 Cal.3d 568, 579 [addressing a former version of section 12022.7].) In other words, "the individual accused of inflicting great bodily injury must be the person who directly acted to cause the injury. The choice of the word 'personally' necessarily excludes those who may have aided or abetted the actor directly inflicting the injury." (Id. at p. 572.) In Cole, for example, the defendant and an accomplice broke into the victim's home. The defendant told the accomplice to kill the victim. The accomplice hit the victim in the arm and head with a rifle. The defendant blocked the victim's escape but did not strike him. On appeal, the defendant argued he was not subject to an enhancement under a former version of section 12022.7 because he did not directly cause the victim's injury. (Id. at pp. 570-571.) This Court agreed: "The purpose of the statute is to deter the infliction of great bodily injury. A construction limiting its scope to the person who himself inflicts the injury serves that purpose; each member of a criminal undertaking will know that,

regardless of the urgings of his confederates, if he actually inflicts the injury he alone will pay the increased penalty." (*Id.* at pp. 572-573, citations omitted.)

At the same time, direct infliction of great bodily injury under section 12022.7 does not require that the defendant's actions be the exclusive cause of the injury. In *People v. Modiri*, supra, 39 Cal.4th 481, the defendant participated in a group beating. The evidence demonstrated that the defendant was one of several people who hit and kicked the victim, and a witness testified she later heard appellant say he broke a bottle over the victim's head during the attack. (Id. at p. 487-489.) Appellant was convicted of felony assault and the jury found true an allegation that he personally inflicted great bodily injury upon the victim under section 1192.7, subdivision (c)(8), which "made the assault conviction a 'serious felony' for purposes of punishment in a future prosecution." (Id. at p. 489.)<sup>2</sup> On appeal, this Court addressed "whether the group beating principles routinely given to juries (CALJIC No. 17.20; see CALCRIM No. 3160) for present and future sentencing purposes, conflict with the requirement that the defendant 'personally inflict[] great bodily injury' (§ 1192.7(c)(8); see § 12022.7(a)), as construed and applied by the courts." (Id. at p. 491.) This Court determined there was no conflict, reasoning:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> As this Court explained in *Modiri*, "Much like the enhancement in section 12022.7(a), section 1192.7(c)(8) defines a serious felony to include one in which 'the defendant personally inflicts great bodily injury' on the victim." (*Modiri*, *supra*, 39 Cal.4th at p. 492.)

[N]othing in the terms "personally" or "inflicts" in section 1192.7(c)(8), necessarily implies that the defendant must act alone in causing the victim's injuries. Nor is this terminology inconsistent with a group melee in which it cannot be determined which assailant, weapon, or blow had the prohibited effect. By its own terms, the statute calls for the defendant to administer a blow or other force to the victim, for the defendant to do so directly rather than through an intermediary, and for the victim to suffer great bodily injury as a result.

(*Id.* at p. 493.) Thus, concurrent causes do not preclude a personal infliction finding. (*Guzman*, *supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th at p. 764 ["[m]ore than one person may be found to have directly participated in inflicting a single injury."]; *People v. Elder* (2014) 227 Cal.App.4th 411, 419 ["a defendant is not absolved of liability for an enhanced sentence under section 12022.7 where others are involved at the time the injury is inflicted."].

Nor do a victim's contributory actions preclude a finding that a defendant personally inflicted the injury. In *Elder*, the defendant and the victim engaged in a struggle during a kidnapping and robbery. The victim grabbed the defendant's hooded sweatshirt, and when the defendant tried to get out if it the victim's finger became stuck and was injured. (*Elder*, *supra*, 227 Cal.App.4th at pp. 414-415, 417.) On appeal, appellant argued that a great bodily injury enhancement under section 12022.7 should "be stricken because there was no substantial evidence that he directly performed the act that caused injury to the victim's finger." (*Id.* at p. 417.) The Third District Court of Appeal disagreed: "Given that more than one person may be found to have directly participated in inflicting an injury, the fact

that the victim here grabbed defendant as he struggled to get away, does not absolve defendant from responsibility for the injury he caused by struggling and pulling away." (*Id.* at p. 420.)

The same is true where the injury was inflicted accidentally. In *Guzman*, the defendant was driving while intoxicated. (*Guzman*, *supra*, 77 Cal.App.4th at p. 763.) He "made an unsafe turn in front of another vehicle," which caused a collision that injured his passenger. (*Ibid*.) On appeal, the defendant argued that "he did not personally inflict the great bodily injury on" his passenger. (*Id*. at p. 764.) Rather, "the other driver involved in the accident is the person who directly performed the act that caused the injury." (*Ibid*.) The Fifth District Court of Appeal rejected this argument:

Here, appellant turned his vehicle into oncoming traffic. This volitional act was the direct cause of the collision and therefore was the direct cause of the injury. Appellant was not merely an accomplice. Thus, appellant personally inflicted the injury on Ms. Quinonez. Further, the accidental nature of the injuries suffered does not affect this analysis. The 1995 amendment to section 12022.7 deleted the requirement that the defendant act "with the intent to inflict the injury."

(Ibid.)

In addition, neither the use of force nor the immediate manifestation of great bodily injury is required to support a section 12022.7 enhancement. In *People v. Cross* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 58, the defendant impregnated his 13-year-old stepdaughter and was convicted of committing a lewd act on a child under the age of 14, with a great bodily injury enhancement

under section 12022.7, subdivision (a). (*Id.* at pp. 62-63.) On appeal, the defendant argued "that only a pregnancy resulting from forcible rape can result in great bodily injury." (*Id.* at p. 64.) This Court disagreed, noting that no authority "holds that medical complications or the use of force is required to support a finding of great bodily injury. And section 12022.7 makes no mention of any such limitation." (*Id.* at p. 65.) And by holding that "a pregnancy without medical complications that results from unlawful but nonforcible sexual conduct with a minor" supported a great bodily injury enhancement under section 12022.7, subdivision (a) (*Cross, supra*, 45 Cal.4th at p. 61), this Court also impliedly held that the victim's injury need not occur immediately after the defendant's illegal actions. Rather, it can manifest at some later time.

### B. The Martinez and Slough Decisions

Two Court of Appeal decisions have applied these principles, reaching different conclusions concerning the sufficiency of the evidence on different facts, in cases where the defendant furnished a drug and the victim overdosed after voluntarily ingesting it.

In *People v. Martinez, supra,* 226 Cal.App.4th 1169, the defendant and the victim met at a bar. There was evidence that the victim was intoxicated and the defendant admitted to police that he saw her consume multiple drinks. The defendant gave the victim several methadone pills at the bar, which she ingested. He later admitted that he knew methadone was more powerful when it was combined with alcohol. The defendant eventually

took the victim home to her apartment and the two had sex. The defendant left in the morning. The victim was found dead shortly thereafter. (*Id.* at pp. 1173-1176.) The "cause of death was methadone, hydrocodone and alcohol intoxication." (*Id.* at p. 1178.) Following a court trial, the defendant was convicted of involuntary manslaughter and three counts of furnishing a controlled substance. The court found true a great bodily injury allegation as to two of the furnishing counts pursuant to section 12022.7. (*Id.* at 1172.)

On appeal, the defendant argued there was insufficient evidence to support the great bodily injury enhancement because the victim volitionally took the drugs and thereby caused her own death. (*Martinez, supra*, 226 Cal.App.4th at p. 1185.) In a unanimous opinion, the Sixth Appellate District rejected this argument, noting, "[m]ore than one person may be found to have directly participated in inflicting a single injury." (*Ibid.*) The court concluded there was sufficient evidence that appellant personally inflicted great bodily injury on the victim:

Appellant may not have forced [the victim] to take a lethal quantity of drugs, but he supplied her with them knowing that the drugs were more dangerous when combined with alcohol. Appellant continued to supply drugs to [the victim] as he watched her continue to consume alcohol and become intoxicated, so intoxicated that appellant felt she was not in any condition to drive and he drove her car to her apartment. Appellant's act of personally providing [the victim] a lethal quantity of drugs while she was in an intoxicated state was the direct cause of [her] death. As the trial court found, "[The victim] would not have died had [appellant] not provided her with all the drugs that he had that night."

(Id. at p. 1186.)

In People v. Slough, supra, 11 Cal.App.5th 419, the defendant was affiliated with a heroin delivery service and "acted as a 'middleman' on behalf of friends and acquaintances who wanted to purchase heroin." (*Id.* at p. 421.) The victim had purchased drugs from the defendant in the past. He texted the defendant and asked him to contact the delivery service. The defendant did so and told the victim to meet him at a gas station. Surveillance video showed the defendant and appellant entering the gas station's market, walking to a hallway out of view, and then making a purchase at the register. (Id. at pp. 421-422.) The victim returned home and was later found unresponsive in a bathroom. A belt, needle, and heroin were all nearby. He died two days later of "acute heroin intoxication" after being taken off life support. (Id. at 422.) Following a jury trial, the defendant was found guilty of selling or furnishing heroin and a great bodily injury allegation was found true. (*Ibid.*)

On appeal, the defendant argued there was insufficient evidence to support the great bodily injury enhancement. The Second Appellate District agreed in a divided opinion. Noting the difference between "proximate cause" and section 12022.7, subdivision (a)'s, requirement of "personal infliction" (*id.* at 424), the majority explained:

[T]he evidence in this case is insufficient to support a finding that appellant personally inflicted GBI. He sold heroin to [the victim], but his performance of that act did not directly cause [the victim's] injuries. The act that did so—[the victim's] ingestion of the drugs—occurred at a different time and location where

appellant was not present. That [the victim] would not have suffered GBI but for appellant selling him the drugs merely demonstrates that appellant was a proximate cause of the injury, which is not enough to sustain a finding of personal infliction.

(Ibid.)

The *Slough* majority distinguished the holding in *Martinez*, pointing to the fact that in *Martinez* there was a direct connection between the defendant's act of providing the victim with drugs and the victim's death. (*Slough*, *supra*, 11 Cal.App.5th at pp. 424-425.) It observed:

Here, there is no such direct factual connection between the furnishing of the drugs and the user's ingestion. Appellant handed off drugs to [the victim] in exchange for money. After that, they each went their separate ways. In *Martinez*, the defendant repeatedly supplied drugs to the victim while observing her increasing intoxication; the furnishing was akin to administering. Appellant, by contrast, played no part in [the victim's] ingestion of the drugs. He neither performed nor participated in the act that directly inflicted the injury, so the GBI enhancement cannot apply.

(Id. at 425.)

Justice Yegan dissented, arguing that the majority's opinion conflicted with the "legislative direction" of section 12022.7 by essentially adding the sale of heroin to the crimes that are excluded under subdivision (g). (Slough, supra, 11 Cal.App.5th at p. 426 (dis. opn. of Yegan, J.).) In Justice Yegan's view, the defendant's act of selling heroin to the victim directly caused the victim's death. (Ibid.) For a drug dealer, "[d]eath, whether instantaneous or after repeated use, is to be expected. The

possibility of overdose is always present." (*Ibid*.) That the defendant and the victim "went their separate ways after the transaction" and that the defendant was not present when the victim died "did not relieve [the defendant] from liability for infliction of great bodily injury." (*Ibid*.) Justice Yegan concluded that the defendant "sold the victim what was tantamount to a 'time bomb" and that this furnishing "was an actual cause, a legal cause, and a proximate cause of the death." (*Id*. at pp. 426-427.)

C. The Trial Court's Ruling Properly Reflected That Voluntary Ingestion Is One Fact for the Jury to Consider, But Does Not Itself Preclude a Personal Infliction Finding

The issue presented in this case asks whether furnishing drugs to a person who overdoses after voluntarily ingesting them *always supports* an enhancement for the personal infliction of great bodily injury. But the trial court ruled on the opposite question: whether voluntary ingestion *necessarily precludes* the enhancement. (3RT 653-655.) The trial court was correct. Voluntary ingestion is but one factor for the jury to consider in determining whether a defendant personally inflicted great bodily injury; it neither mandates such a finding by itself nor precludes the finding.

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